I. INTRODUCTION

Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen defrauded Appellant Sterling

Savings Bank and Respondent Parkridge Property, LLC ("Parkridge

LLC") by falsely representing that they had the authority to

refinance and encumber an apartment complex owned by Parkridge

LLC. Xu and Chen falsified documents, and made multiple

misrepresentations, in order to induce Sterling to issue an

$18 million loan on the complex.

Of the $18 million advanced by Sterling, approximately

$15 million was used to pay off a prior, legitimate loan. The

remaining proceeds were pocketed by Xu and Chen.

Xu and Chen, however, had no authority to refinance or

encumber the apartment complex. Under Parkridge LLC's actual

operating agreement - an agreement never provided to Sterling -

that authority could only come from CFD Funding 1, LLC, the 75%

owner of Parkridge LLC. Xu and Chen, in essence, cut out CFD

Funding 1 and withdrew approximately $3 million in equity for

themselves.
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The fraud was facilitated by the involvement of the attorney

for Parkridge LLC, Rebecca Wiess. Ms. Wiess, who also served as

the attorney for Xu and Chen, signed an opinion letter as part of the

closing of the Sterling loan falsely representing that the loan was

fully authorized under Parkridge LLC's articles of organization.

Ms. Wiess, who had personally participated in the drafting of those

governing documents, knew or should have known that CFD

Funding l's authorization was required to enter into a loan, and that

Xu and Chen had no such independent authority.

Upon discovery of the fraud, Parkridge LLC sued Sterling

and, upon discovery of her opinion letter, Ms. Wiess. The case

against Sterling became a case for monetary damages when the

underlying property was sold, with Parkridge LLC seeking

$2,699,374.07 in damages, computed as the difference between the

sale price of the property ($17,714,020.84) and the amount paid to

retire the legitimate prior loan ($15,014,646.77). Parkridge LLC

sought a similar recovery from Ms. Wiess.

Prior to trial, Parkridge LLCsettled with Ms. Wiess,obtaining

a policy-limits settlement of $1,000,000. Parkridge LLC proceeded to
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trial against Sterling, seeking all of its alleged $2.7 million in

damages. The trial court awarded those damages to Parkridge LLC,

but failed to offset those damages by the $1,000,000 recovery that

Parkridge LLC had already received from Wiess. As a result,

Parkridge obtained a double recovery, at Sterling's expense, of

nearly $1 million. This appeal follows the rejection of Sterling's

claim for an offset.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Sterling assigns error to Conclusion of Law No. 58, which

reads as follows:

Sterling did not show what part, if any, of
Parkridge's settlement with Wiess was attributable to
the claim it seeks to offset. Additionally, Parkridge
incurred costs and attorney's fees in obtaining its
settlement with Wiess. Sterling did not meet its
burden of proving a double recovery and a set off is
inappropriate.

CP 451 (Conclusion No. 58). See also RP 1126-27 (trial court orally

rejecting Sterling's claim for offset).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to

offset a $1 million legal malpractice recovery received by Parkridge

LLC when it assessed damages against Sterling?
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Answer: Yes. Sterling established that the $1 million

malpractice recovery obtained by Parkridge LLC was directly

related to the fraud perpetuated by Xu and Chen against Parkridge

LLC and Sterling. Parkridge LLC obtained a double recovery,

receiving a windfall of $964,777.09 at the expense of Sterling, the

other party wronged by fraud.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Xu's Purchase of the Parkridge Apartments

CFD-Parkridge, LLC was the owner of a 249-unit apartment

complex located in Everett, Washington (the "Property"). CP 412

(Fact No. 1). Charles Diesing ("Diesing") was CFD-Parkridge's only

owner. CP 412 (Fact No. 1). Graphically displayed, the ownership

structure was as follows:

Ownership of Property
Before Sale

Charles Diesing

I (100% owner)

CFD-Parkridge, LLC

I (100% owner)

Property
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Diesing was approached by Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen

(collectively, "the Xus") about purchasing the Property. TheXus and

Diesing agreed upon a purchase price, and the Xus proceeded to

arrange for financing. CP 412-413 (Fact Nos. 2, 3). General Electric

Capital Corporation ("GE Capital") agreed to loan the Xus

$14.95 million. CP 413 (Fact No. 3). Because this sum was not

enough for the Xus to both purchase the Property and perform

certain planned renovations, the Xus approached Diesing about

providing supplemental financing as part of the purchase. Diesing

eventually agreed to provide $6 million. CP 413 (Fact No. 3).

This additional financing, however, caused a problem

because GE Capital would not approve a loan if anyone filed any

security interests, even in second position, against the Property.

CP 413 (Fact No. 4); RP 6, Ins. 4-11; RP 85, Ins. 17-25. In an effort to

circumvent GE Capital's objection, the Xus and Diesing agreed to

jointly form Parkridge LLC, a Washington limited liability

corporation. CP 413 (Fact No. 4); RP 86-87. In exchange for

$6 million, Diesing would receive a 75% interest in Parkridge LLC.

EX 62. He would also receive a 7.5% preferred return on his
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$6 million capital contribution, payable from available net cash flow.

CP 413 (Fact No. 4), 415 (Fact No. 11); EX 62. At the end of three

years, Parkridge LLCwould redeem Diesing's membership interest

for $6 million plus any accrued and unpaid preferred returns.

CP 413 (Fact No. 4), 415 (Fact No. 11). The Xus personally

guaranteed Parkridge LLC's obligations. CP 415 (Fact No. 11). In

essence, the deal was structured to give Diesing an interest in the

Property in exchange for a "loan" of $6 million, with interest,

without the filed security interest objected to by GE Capital. RP 7,

Ins. 14-17; RP 89-90, Ins. 23-11.

Diesing formed CFD Funding 1, LLC ("CFD Funding 1") to

hold his interest in Parkridge LLC. CP 414 (Fact No. 6). The Xus

formed Longwell Parkridge, LLC ("Longwell"), to hold his interest.

CP 414 (Fact No. 6). The new ownership structure, graphically

displayed, was as follows:

Ownership of Property After Sale

Charles Diesing
1 (100% owner)

CFD Funding 1, LLC
^ (75% owner)

Stanley Xu and Nanling Chen
(100% owners) I

Longwell Parkridge, LLC
(25% owner)

* Parkridge Property LLC
• (100% owner)

Property
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The sale was completed. GE Capital loaned Parkridge LLC

$14.95 million, and Parkridge LLC executed a deed of trust on the

Property for the benefit of GE Capital. CP 414 (Fact No. 7).

B. Parkridge LLC's LLC Agreement

The Limited Liability Company Agreement governing

Parkridge LLC was negotiated between attorneys Robert

deNormandie on behalf of Diesing/CFD Funding 1 and Rebecca

Wiess on behalf of Xu/Longwell. CP 414(FactNo. 8). After multiple

drafts, it was executed on August 27, 2008. CP 414 (Fact No. 8).

TheLLC Agreementdesignated Longwell as Parkridge LLC's

managing member, and CFD Funding 1 as its non-managing

member. CP 414 (Fact No. 9). Longwell, as the managing member,

was givencontrol overParkridge LLC's operations,subjectto certain

exceptions. CP414 (Fact No. 9). One of thoseexceptions, as set forth

in Section 7.5 of the LLC Agreement, required Longwell to obtain

CFD Funding l's written consent before refinancing the GE Capital

loan, or allowing a lien or other encumbrance to be filed against the

Property. CP 414 (Fact No. 9).
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C. The Xus Defraud Sterling Savings Bank.

The Xus faced extreme financial pressures in 2010, when

another property they owned entered foreclosure. RP 10-11,

Ins. 18-3. The Xus came up with a scheme to pull equity out of the

Property in order to meet their other obligations, and approached

Sterling in January 2011 about obtaining an $18 million loan for

Parkridge LLC, secured by the Property. (416 (FactNo. 16). Of that

sum, $15 million would be used to refinance the GE Capital loan.

CP 416 (Fact No. 16). The remaining $3 million would be paid

directly to the Xus. CP 416 (Fact No. 16)..

As part of Sterling's loan application process, Stanley Xu

signed documents in which he falsely represented that he and Chen

were Parkridge LLC'smanaging members and sole owners. CP 416

(Fact No. 17: "Xu signed the original loan application and

represented to Sterling that he and Chen were Parkridge's only

members and managing members. Because Xu claimed to be

Parkridge's managing member, Sterling believed he was the

appropriate person to provide this information."). As the trial court

further found, "Sterling wanted to make sure that Parkridge's
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Operating Agreement authorized Xu and Longwell to sign the

documents for the Sterling loan." CP 417 (Fact No. 18). Sterling

therefore asked for a copy of the Operating Agreement governing

Parkridge LLC. CP 417 (Fact No. 18).

The Xus provided Sterling with a falsified limited liability

company agreement and a false borrowing authorization certifying

that they had the authority to sign the loan documents and encumber

the Property. CP 417 (Fact No. 19). The Xus never disclosed that

they had no authority under Parkridge LLC's actual operating

agreement to refinance or encumber the property without CFD

Funding l's consent. The Xus also failed to provide Sterling with

complete tax returns for 2008 and 2009, omitting the true Schedule

K-l forms that would have identified Parkridge LLC's other

member. CP 419 (Fact Nos. 24, 25). Instead, the Xus provided false

forms. CP 419 (Fact Nos. 25,26). It was, as Parkridge LLC's attorney

admitted during opening, "a complete fraud upon Sterling." RP13,

In. 7.

-9-



D. Sterling Obtains an Opinion Letter from the Xus'
Attorney, Ms. Wiess, Representing that the Xus
Have the Authority to Enter into the Sterling Loan.

Sterling hired Ren Hayhurst, an attorney at the firm Bryan

Cave, to confirm that the Xus had the authority to refinance the

Property on behalf of Parkridge LLC. CP 419-20 (Fact No. 28). In

part of his review, Hayhurst noticed that the loan application

identified Longwell as Parkridge LLC's managing member, while

the Operating Agreement indicated that the Xus and Chen were

Parkridge LLC's managing members. CP 422 (Fact No. 37). Bryan

Cave informed Sterling of the discrepancy, and requested that

Sterling obtain copies of all documents concerning changes in

Parkridge LLC's membership. CP 422 (Fact No. 30).

In response to Sterling's request, the Xus provided it with a

falsified document entitled "First Amendment to Limited Liability

Company Agreement of Parkridge Property, L.L.C." CP 422 (Fact

Nos.38,39). ThisFirst Amendment purported to document that the

Xus had transferred to Longwell their phony 100% interest in

Parkridge LLC, and stated that Longwell had taken over as

Parkridge LLC's managing member. CP 422 (Fact No. 38).
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Seeking confirmation of the Xus' authority, Hayhurst

recommended that Sterling obtain an opinion letter from Parkridge

LLC's counsel (and the Xus' counsel), Wiess. CP 423 (Fact No. 40).

Wiess drafted an opinion letter on Parkridge LLC's behalf. CP 423

(Fact No. 42); EX 52; RP 3. In that letter, Wiess represented, among

other things, that the "execution, delivery and performance by

[Parkridge LLC] of the Loan Documents have been duly authorized

by all necessary actionof [Parkridge LLC] and do not and willnot...

violate any provision of the articles of organization or operating

agreement of [Parkridge]." EX 52, p. FNTC000545. The opinion

letter from Wiess also opined that, upon execution, the loan

documents would provide Sterling with a "good, valid and

perfected security interest in thecollateral" upontherecording ofthe

deed of trust. EX 52, p. FNTC000546. However, as would later be

alleged, Wiess, as the attorney who personally participated in the

drafting of the true Limited Liability Company Agreement

governing Parkridge LLC, knew or should haveknown that the Xus

had no ability to encumber the Property without CFD Funding l's

consent. CP 414 (Fact No. 9).
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The Xus e-mailed Wiess's opinion letter to Chicago Title on

the evening of Sunday, January 30, 2011. CP 423 (Fact No. 42). On

Monday, January 31, a representative from Chicago Title informed

Hayhurst that it had receivedthe opinion letter, that it was on Wiess'

letterhead, and that it was signed by Wiess. CP 424 (Fact No. 45).

The loan proceeded to close later that day. CP 423 (Fact No. 45).

As the trial court found, "Sterling approved the Loan based

upon the false information that Xu provided." CP425 (Fact No. 50).

See also CP 426 (Fact No. 54: "Sterling would not make the Loan

without verifying that its Deed of Trust had priority over any other

claim againstthe Property."). The trialcourtalsofound that the Xus

and Longwell entered into the loanwithout the legal authorityto do

so:

Xu and Longwell executed the Loan Documents and
Deed of Trust. Xu and Longwell did not obtain CFD's
consent before they executed the Loan Documents and
Deed of Trust. Xu and Longwell concealed their
actions from CFD and did not disclose the Loan or

Deed of Trust. Xu and Longwell executed the Loan
Documents and the Deed of Trust without Parkridge's
knowledge or authority.

CP 425 (Fact No. 52).
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E. The Xus Appropriate Parkridge LLC's Loan
Proceeds and Encumber the Property.

Of the $18 million in Sterling's loan proceeds, $15,014,646.77

was used to pay off the GE Capital loan. CP 425 (Fact No. 81). GE

Capital's interest in the Property was released. CP 425 (Fact No. 81).

After deducting fees and closing costs, Sterling paid the Xus the

remaining loan proceeds of $2,757,880.99. CP 425 (Fact No. 51).

Sterling filed a deed of trust to secure the $18 million that it had

advanced. CP 424-25 (Fact No. 49).

F. Diesing Discovers the Xus' Fraud, Files Suit, and
Obtains a Receiver.

In July 2011, CFDFunding 1, through Diesing,discovered the

Xus'fraud. CP 430(FactNo. 69). CFDFunding 1 sued the Xus,Chen

and Longwell. CP 430 (Fact No. 69). In addition, CFD Funding 1,

derivatively on behalf of Parkridge LLC, sued the Xus, Chen,

Longwell and Sterling. CP430-31 (Fact Nos. 70,71). CFD Funding1

quickly obtained an order appointing a receiver to liquidate

ParkridgeLLC's assets, includingthe Property. CP431 (Fact No. 72).
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G. The Xus Settle the Parkridge Dispute with CFD
Funding 1 for $6 Million plus Interest.

In December of 2011, CFD Funding 1 obtained summary

judgment against the Xusand Longwell. CP 431 (Fact No. 74). After

judgment had been entered, CFD Funding 1 entered into a

settlement with the Xus and Longwell under which CFD Funding 1

was paid an amount equal to the forced redemption payments for

Parkridge Property, plus interest and attorneys' fees. CP 432 (Fact

No. 76); EX 68, p. 2, § 1; RP 3.

H. By Agreement of the Parties, the Property Is Sold
by the Receiver for $17.85 Million.

In June 2012, the court-appointed receiver obtained a buyer

for the Property. CP 432 (Fact No. 78). The proposed sale price was

$17.85 million. CP 432. Sterling, CFDFunding 1, and Parkridge LLC

all agreed that a sale at that price was in the best interests of all

parties. CP 432 (Fact No. 78).

The parties also agreed that Sterling had the right to

approximately $15 million of the sale proceeds under the doctrine of
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equitable subrogation. CP 432-33 (Fact Nos. 79, 80); EX 68.1

With respect to the proceeds in excess of that amount, the

attorneys for Sterling, CFD Funding 1 and Parkridge LLC agreed

that the receiver would pay those sums to Sterling as well, without

prejudice to either party's right to assert claims and defenses

regarding priority to proceeds in excess of the approximately

$15 million used to pay off the GE loan. CP 432-33 (Fact No. 80). As

the trial court found:

In June of 2012, the Court approved the Receiver's sale
of the Property. Per the Agreement, the net proceeds
from the sale of the Property, totaling $17,714,020.84,
were distributed to Sterling. The Agreement further
provided that, under the doctrine of equitable
subrogation, Sterling was entitled to reimbursement
for the $15,014,646.77 it paid to GE Capital. Finally, the
Agreement provided that the parties can "assert claims
and defenses as to which party has priority" to
$2,699,374.07, which are the "proceeds in excess" of the
amount Sterling claimed under the doctrine of
equitable subrogation.

CP 434 (Fact No. 84).

1 Because Sterling had paid approximately $15 million to GE Capital to
refinance its interest in the Property, Sterling "stood in the shoes" of GE Capital
and had priority over those funds. Bank ofAmerica v. Prestance Corp., 160 Wn.2d
560,160 P.3 17 (2007).
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I. Wiess Becomes a Defendant, and Settles for
$1,000,000.

In April of 2013, after the Property was sold, Wiess was added

as an additional defendant for her role in drafting the opinion letter

that falsely represented that the Xus had the authority to enter into

the Sterling loan. CP 434 (Fact No. 85). Wiess paid Parkridge LLC

$1,000,000 in March of 2014 to resolve the claims Parkridge LLC

made against her. CP 434 (Fact No. 85).

J. CFD Funding 1 Is Dismissed, and the Case Proceeds
with Parkridge LLC as the Sole Plaintiff.

Parkridge LLC filed a Second Amended Complaint for

damages against Sterling in December of 2013. CP 435 (Fact No. 88).

The Second Amended Complaint dropped CFD Funding l's claims,

and the only plaintiff from that point forward was Parkridge LLC.

CP 435 (Fact No. 88) ("Since CFD had settled its claims with the Xus

and Longwell, the Court dismissed CFD as a plaintiff. The Court

also dismissed CFD's derivative action and allowed Parkridge to

bring this action in its own name.").

Having settled with Wiess, Parkridge LLC's remaining claim

was against Sterling. It alleged that it had been harmed by Sterling's

loan and deed of trust, and sought recovery of approximately
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$3 million in monetary damages. CP 435 (Fact No. 89) ("Parkridge

alleged in its Second Amended Complaint that '[a]s a direct and

proximate result of Sterling's actions and inactions, Parkridge

suffered damages in the amount of at least $3 million.'"). The trial

court concluded that Parkridge LLChad the ability to seek monetary

damages under RCW 7.28.190 because the underlying property had

sold (rendering a quiet title judgment irrelevant):

The Property was sold after Parkridge commenced
this lawsuit but before trial commenced. RCW 7.28.190

specifically provides that under these circumstances, a
quiet title actioncontinues after the sale of the subject
property:

If the right of the plaintiff to the possessionof
the property expire, after the commencement
of the action and before trial, the verdict shall
be given according to the fact, and judgment
shall be given only for the damages.

CP 437(Conclusion No. 6). See also RP 995-996, Ins. 25-6.

K. The Trial Court Awarded Damages, Plus Prejudgment
Interest on Those Damages, to Parkridge Property.

At trial, Parkridge LLC argued that it sustained damages in

the sum of $2,699,374.07, the difference between the net proceeds

from the agreed saleof the Property ($17,714,020.84) and the amount

paid to refinance the GE Capital loan ($15,014,646.77). RP 990,
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Ins. 2-5 ("So look at these here is about $2.7 million of call them

excess proceeds, for lack of calling them something else, that we're

fighting over in this lawsuit."); RP 996, Ins. 17-18 ("... Parkridge is

entitled to an award of damages."); RP 791, Ins. 2-3 (Parkridge LLC

claim is for "[t]he difference between the amount of the Sterling loan

and the amount of the GE Capital loan"). The trial court agreed.

Because it was awarding damages, the trial court also awarded

prejudgment interest on this sum:

The net proceeds from the sale of the Property
totaled $17,714,020.84. Sterling paid GE Capital
$15,014,646.77. The $2,699,374.07 difference between
these two amounts represents Parkridges's damages.
This damage amount is liquidated, since it is determin
able without reliance on opinion or discretion.
Parkridge is entitled to prejudgment interest from
June 1, 2012 (the date the Property was sold) until the
date of judgment.

CP 449 (Conclusion No. 52).

L. The Trial Court Awarded Parkridge Property its
Attorneys' Fees and Costs.

In addition to awarding damages in the sum of $2,699,374.07

and prejudgment interest on those damages in the sum of

$591,510.62, Parkridge LLC was also awarded its attorneys' fees and

costs against Sterling. CP 55 (Conclusion of Law 55); CP 392, ^ 12.
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In a post-trial motion, Parkridge LLC moved for, and received, an

award of $434,585.50 in fees and $16,874.53 in costs. The trial court,

in awarding those fees, concluded that they were "related to the

quiet title action, or so intertwined with it that they are impossible to

segregate." CP 392, f 12.

M. The Trial Court Refused to Offset Wiess' $1,000,000
Payment from the Damages Award.

Given that Parkridge LLC was awarded all of its damages,

plus prejudgment interest and $451,460.03 in attorneys' fees and

costs, Sterling argued that it was entitled to an offset related to the

$1,000,000 payment made by Wiess to Parkridge LLC. RP 1124-25.

In addition to raising the issue in testimony and briefing, Sterling's

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