NO. 72149-6-I IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION I**

STERLING SAVINGS BANK,

Appellant,

٧.

STANLEY XU and NANLING CHEN, husband and wife and the marital community comprised thereof; LONGWELL PARKRIDGE, LLC, Washington limited liability company; PARKRIDGE PROPERTY, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and BRITTANY PARK APART-MENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Case No. 11-2-25872-6 SEA (Hon. Barbara Linde)

APPELLEE'S OPENING BRIEF

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are "verities on appeal."

Sterling did not assign error to *any* of the trial court's findings of fact. Appellate courts treat unchallenged findings of fact as "verities on appeal."81

Typically, where an appellant does not assign error to the findings of fact, the appellate court's review is limited to whether the findings support the conclusions. Be However, except for Conclusion of Law No. 58, Sterling did not assign error to the trial court's conclusions of law. Nor did Sterling argue in its opening brief that any of the trial court's conclusions (other than COL # 58) were incorrect. Since appellate courts will not consider an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief, Sterling effectively waived any argument that the trial court's conclusions of law were incorrect.

⁸¹ In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Hall, 180 Wn.2d 821, 828, 329 P.3d 870 (2014); Yuchasz v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 183 Wn. App. 879, 886, 335 P.3d 998 (2014).

⁸² Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 110, 267 P.3d 435 (2011); Standing Rock Homeowner Ass'n. v. Misich, 106 Wn. App. 231, 242-43, 23 P.3d 520 (2001).

⁸³ Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); Scott's Excavating, 176 Wn. App. at 348-49. See Gibson v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, __ Wn.App. __, 340 P.3d 882, 890 (2014) ("Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration.") (quoting Palmer v. Jensen, 81 Wn. App. 148, 153, 913 P.2d 413 (1996)).

B. Parkridge did not obtain a double recovery "at Sterling's expense." The issue at trial was who had priority to the proceeds from the sale of Parkridge's property. Sterling did not have a legal interest in the property and did not suffer "damages" when the trial court required it to return the money to Parkridge.

Sterling's sole argument on appeal is that "Parkridge was over-compensated and obtained a double recovery, at Sterling's expense, when the trial court refused to offset damages awarded against Sterling with the Wiess recovery."84 In making this argument, Sterling implies that it suffered damages when the trial court ordered it to return \$2,699,374.07 that belonged to Parkridge. As the trial court found, Sterling never had a legal interest in or right to this money. The equitable remedy of offset does not apply because Sterling did not sustain any damages.

Offset is an equitable remedy that ensures a plaintiff does not recover from two defendants for the same damage.⁸⁵ While Washington has an interest in avoiding double damages, "the party claiming an offset has the burden of proving this claim."⁸⁶ Further, when a party

⁸⁴ Sterling's Brief, at 22.

⁸⁵ Scott's Excavating, 176 Wn. App. at 348-349 (citing Eagle Point, 102 Wn. App. at 702).

⁸⁶ Harmony at Madrona Park Owners Ass'n v. Madison Harmony Dev., Inc., 160 Wash. App. 728, 735, 253 P.3d 101, 105 (2011) (citing Maziarski v. Bair, 83 Wash.App. 835, 841, 924 P.2d 409 (1996); see also Smith v. McLaren, 58 Wash.2d 907, 910, 365 P.2d 331 (1961) (party claiming setoffs provided no competent evidence supporting claims); Alway v. Carson Lumber Co., 57 Wash.2d 900, 901-02,

seeks an offset against a judgment, he must show that he paid in the manner alleged, and that he "entitled to have the payment credited against the obligation embodied in the judgment."87

Sterling cannot make this showing because it does not have any damages to offset. While Sterling claims the trial court erred by not permitting "its damage obligation [to be] offset by \$964,777.09 of the Wiess recovery," the fact is that Sterling does not have a "damage obligation." The trial court ordered Sterling to return the money it is holding from the sale of Parkridge's property. As the trial court determined—and Sterling now concedes—Sterling never had a legal interest in Parkridge's property or a right to the excess proceeds from the Property's sale.

Parkridge brought this lawsuit to have the Sterling DOT declared invalid and title quieted in its property. An action to quiet title is an equitable proceeding "designed to resolve competing claims" regarding a property.⁸⁹ It allows a party in possession of real property to compel

³⁵⁵ P.2d 339 (1960) (record too vague to meet defendant's burden of proving setoff)).

⁸⁷ Maziarski, 83 Wn. App. at 841.

⁸⁸ Sterling's Brief, at 29.

⁸⁹ Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 176 Wn. App. 475, 502, 309 P.3d 636 (2013); Walker v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash., 176 Wn. App. 294, 322, 308 P.3d 716 (2013).

others who assert a hostile right—such as a deed of trust upon the property—to submit that claim to judicial determination. 90 Without a quiet title action, Parkridge stood to lose \$3 million in equity in the Property. 91

Damages are not ordinarily allowed in a quiet title action, since it is a claim for equitable relief. Packet However, Parkridge sold the Property after it commenced this lawsuit but before trial. In that circumstance, RCW 7.28.190 provides that "the verdict shall be given according to the fact, and judgment shall be given only for the damages." The trial court interpreted this statute to mean that Parkridge was entitled to a determination regarding the validity and enforceability of the Sterling DOT. Parkridge or Sterling had priority to the proceeds from the Property's sale.

The Property sold for a net (after commissions and expenses) of

⁹⁰ *Id.* See *Kobza v. Tripp*, 105 Wn. App. 90, 95, 18 P.3d 621 (2001) ("An action to quiet title allows a person in peaceable possession or claiming the right to possession of real property to compel others who assert a hostile right or claim to come forward and assert their right or claim and submit it to judicial determination.").

⁹¹ FOF # 71.

⁹² Kobza, 105 Wn. App. at 95.

⁹³ COL # 6. See *Id.* ("Even if the claim asserted ... is absolutely invalid, the parties are still entitled to a decree saying so.").

⁹⁴ COL # 7. Parkridge could maintain a quiet title action to determine it right to personal property; i.e., the proceeds from the sale of the Property. See RCW 7.28.310.

\$17,714,020.84. Applying the doctrine of equitable subrogation, the parties agreed to reimburse Sterling for the \$15,014,646.77 it paid to GE Capital.⁹⁵ The money remaining after this reimbursement—totaling \$2,699,374.07—is what Sterling refers to in its brief as the "monetary damages:"

The case against Sterling became a case for monetary damages when the underlying property was sold, with Parkridge L.L.C. seeking \$2,699,374.07 in damages, computed as the difference between the sale price of the property (\$17,714,020.84) and the amount paid to retire the legitimate prior loan (\$15,014,646.77).96

Parkridge owned the Property, which means it had the unrestricted right to possess, use, and enjoy the Property.⁹⁷ Parkridge's right of ownership also included the right to sell the Property and re-

^{95 &}quot;Equitable subrogation allows a party who satisfies another's obligation to recover from the party primarily liable for the extinguished obligation." *Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Columbia State Bank*, 183 Wn. App. 599, 609, 334 P.3d 87 (2014). The doctrine's purpose is to avoid a person's receiving an unearned windfall at another's expense. *Worden v. Smith*, 178 Wn. App. 309, 330, 314 P.3d 1125 (2013). In the context of mortgage refinancing, a lender is subrogated to the position of a priority interest holder when it pays off that priority interest holder's loan. *Columbia Cmty. Bank v. Newman Park, LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 577, 581, 304 P.3d 372 (2013).

⁹⁶ Sterling's Brief, at 2.

⁹⁷ Manufactured Housing Cmtys. v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 364, 13 P.3d 183 (2000). See Vaughn v. Montague, 924 F. Supp. 2d 1256, 1265 (W.D. Wash. 2013) ("Absolute ownership" includes "the right to hold, possess, and enjoy to the exclusion of any other individual in the universe.") (quoting Ackerman v. Port of Seattle, 55 Wn.2d 400, 409, 348 P.2d 664 (1960)).

ceive the proceeds of sale. 98 However, Sterling claimed priority to those funds under its deed of trust or as a bona fide encumbrancer. Parkridge's counsel observed in his closing argument that Parkridge would suffer \$2.7 million in "damages" if the trial court upheld Sterling's claims:

The property sold for \$17.7 million. Sterling gets an equitable lien for \$15 million. That leaves \$2.7 million. That money would clearly have gone to Parkridge as the property's owner but for Sterling's claim that it has priority. So Parkridge [is] going to be damaged in the amount of \$2.7 million if it doesn't get that money. That's what we're fighting over here, who has priority to the excess proceeds.⁹⁹

Parkridge's counsel argued that the "excess proceeds" of \$2,699,374.07 belonged to Parkridge because:

It was Parkridge's property that got sold. Parkridge has a right to the money from the sale of its own property. GE—Sterling has not established any legal basis or claim to that money. It's not their property. It's not their money. 100

The trial court agreed that the \$2.7 million in remaining proceeds represented the "damages" at issue in the trial:

⁹⁸ See Johnson v. Johnson, 32 Wn. App. 147, 149, 646 P.2d 142 (1982) ("[I]t it is understood that implicit in ownership of an asset is the probability that it will eventually be sold; the right to sell an asset is incident to the right of ownership. (citing In re Seattle, 81 Wn.2d 652, 656, 504 P.2d 292 (1972) and Ackerman, 55 Wn.2d at 409).

⁹⁹ RP 986-87.

¹⁰⁰ RP 1024-25.

The net proceeds from the sale of the Property totaled \$17,714,020.84. Sterling paid GE Capital \$15,014,646.77. The \$2,699,374.07 difference between these two amounts represents Parkridge's damages.¹⁰¹

The trial court determined that Sterling's DOT was invalid and unenforceable. The trial court further concluded that Sterling was not a bona fide encumbrancer. Finally, the trial court held that Sterling was only entitled to an equitable lien on the Property for the \$15,014,646.77 it paid to GE Capital:

The bank here, Sterling—and this is not disputed—has a right to be made whole with respect to the underlying loan that it paid off. But the proceeds, the excess amount that rightfully belongs to the owner of the apartment building, which is Parkridge, the L.L.C., is properly awarded to the plaintiff.¹⁰⁴

Based upon these determinations, the trial court held that Sterling did not have a legal claim to the remaining proceeds from the Property's sale. The trial court concluded that Parkridge had priority to the money and would receive it as "damages:"

Parkridge is entitled to recover its damages in this quiet title action. Those damages are the \$2,699,374.07 of proceeds in ex-

102 COL # 20.

¹⁰¹ COL # 52.

¹⁰³ COL #'s 42, 47.

¹⁰⁴ RP 1122. See COL # 40.

cess of the \$15,015,646.77 that Sterling is entitled to recover under the doctrine of equitable subrogation. 105

However, the trial court clarified in its oral ruling that it was not using the term "damages" in the traditional sense of the word:

The timing of the sale of the property does not invalidate Parkridge's claim for quiet title. I do find that the, I'll call them the \$2.7 million roughly of proceeds over and above the \$15 million necessary to pay off the loan, while those can be characterized as damages they are not damages along the lines of the – I forget the name of it – <u>Kobza</u>¹⁰⁶ I think was the name case.

And that case basically said, well, ordinarily damages are not part of a quiet title action, and it wasn't in that case. It was because it was a lost opportunity, a lost sale. They were classic loss of sale damages, not the actual property that was the dispute. The property, just like the apartment building, this is a piece of the apartment building reflected in the proceeds after the underlying loan was paid off, and I find that a quiet title action is appropriate and that just because it's now money does not convert it into a case that is not appropriate for quiet title action.¹⁰⁷

During closing argument, Sterling's counsel emphasized that Parkridge's claim was not for damages: "There is (sic) no damages allowed in this case. They tried to convert this to a damage case. But

 $^{^{105}}$ COL # 9. See COL # 48, where the trial court held that "Parkridge is entitled to priority to \$2,699,374.07 of the proceeds from the sale of the Property. Sterling is directed to pay \$2,699,374.07 to Parkridge."

¹⁰⁶ Kobza, 105 Wn. App. at 95

¹⁰⁷ RP 1118-19 (emphasis added).

there is (sic) no damages allowed."¹⁰⁸ Nonetheless, Sterling may still argue in its reply brief that it suffered "damages" because the trial court required it to pay prejudgment interest and attorney fees. However, Sterling has had the use of Parkridge's money since the Property sold in June 2012.¹⁰⁹ The trial court's award of prejudgment interest compensated Sterling for the "use value" of these funds.¹¹⁰ Additionally, the Sterling DOT provided that the prevailing party in any litigation would recover its reasonable costs and attorney fees.¹¹¹ Sterling's refusal to remove that deed of trust forced Parkridge to incur attorney fees and costs in this quiet title action.

Parkridge did not "obtain a double recovery at Sterling's expense." Sterling never paid *any* money to Parkridge: after satisfying the GE deed of trust, Sterling paid \$2.75 million directly to the Xus' personal bank account. Further, the funds at issue in the lawsuit were the proceeds remaining from the sale of *Parkridge's* property. As the trial court found—and Sterling now concedes—Sterling never had a legal right to those proceeds; rather, Sterling is simply holding (and using)

¹⁰⁸ RP 1039.

¹⁰⁹ Presumably, Sterling earns a return on these funds by using them in its business. Sterling did not introduce any evidence at trial to the contrary.

¹¹⁰ COL #'s 49-52.

¹¹¹ COL #'s 53-55.

the money until resolution of the litigation. Being required to return Parkridge's money did not damage Sterling and the doctrine of offset does not apply.

C. Sterling claims to be the "other victim of Xus' fraud." Yet, Sterling facilitated that fraud by ignoring glaring inconsistencies in the Xus' representations, failing to investigate the accuracy of the information they provided, and failing to verify their authority to act on Parkridge's behalf. Given its complicity in the fraud, Sterling is not entitled to the equitable remedy of offset.

Sterling claims that "[t]he court erred by not permitted (sic) the other victim of Xus' fraud, Sterling, to have its damage obligation offset by \$964,777.09 of the Wiess recovery in order to avoid a double recovery." However, the reality is that Sterling, in its eagerness to make the loan, facilitated the Xus' fraud. Sterling's complicity in the fraud should disqualify it from receiving the equitable remedy of offset.

Sterling was not an innocent victim. It enabled the Xus' fraud through the following actions:

- Sterling was "looking for ways to make this loan" because it was eager to increase its portfolio of commercial multi-family housing loans.¹¹³
- This \$18 million loan was six times larger than Sterling's typical commercial multi-family housing loan.¹¹⁴

¹¹² Sterling's Brief, at 29.

¹¹³ RP 235-36, 914, 949-50.

¹¹⁴ RP 401-02.

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